RECEIVED

02-17-2016

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

Case No. 2015AP2307-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

SAMUEL K. DIXON,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Notice of Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Thomas J. McAdams Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

LEON W. TODD Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1050407

Office of the State Public Defender 735 North Water Street, Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202 (414) 227-4805 toddl@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did police have reasonable suspicion to stop and detain Samuel Dixon based on the fact that he was talking to a woman for five minutes, in an area where there had been complaints of prostitution during the past thirty days?

The circuit court denied Dixon's motion to suppress evidence discovered during the stop, concluding that police had reasonable suspicion to stop him.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Dixon would welcome oral argument if the court would find it helpful. *See* Wis. Stat. § 809.22. He does not request publication because the case can be resolved by applying established legal precedent to the facts. *See* Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1)(b)1., 3.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. Allegations of the criminal complaint.

On October 10, 2014, the State filed a criminal complaint charging Dixon with one count of possession of a firearm by a felon, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 941.29(2)(a). (2:1). The complaint alleged on August 17, 2014, Police Officer Alvin Hannah was on patrol in the city of Milwaukee when he observed Dixon standing near a woman in front of a "no loitering" sign affixed to a store located at 2900 West Lisbon Avenue. (2:1). According to Hannah, he approached Dixon, who turned his body away and began to reach into his

pockets. (2:1). Hannah alleged that he then observed the handle of a handgun protruding from Dixon's back pocket. (2:1). He also alleged that Dixon told him that he was a convicted felon, so Hannah retrieved the gun and arrested Dixon. (2:1).

B. Plea and sentencing hearing.

On April 30, 2015, Dixon pled guilty as charged in the complaint. (27:4). That same day, the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Thomas J. McAdams presiding, conducted Dixon's sentencing hearing. The State recommended a prison sentence to the court, without specifying an exact duration. (27:11). Defense counsel asked the court to impose two years of initial confinement and two years of extended supervision, concurrent with a three-year revocation sentence Dixon was currently serving. (27:14-15, 19). As counsel pointed out, this was not a prostitution case; the woman Dixon was talking to that day was his girlfriend, Andrea Anderson. (27:16). The couple was simply returning from a party where they had been celebrating Dixon's birthday. When they stopped to talk for a few minutes, however, they were confronted by police. (27:16-17, 21). Counsel noted that Anderson was present in the courtroom and had attended all the hearings in the case. (27:16). Counsel further explained that Dixon did not have the gun for purposes of doing harm to anyone; he simply feared for his safety because he lived in a high-crime area. (27:17).

After hearing the parties' recommendations, the court made its remarks and then imposed a sentence of four years of initial confinement and two years of extended supervision, concurrent with the sentence Dixon was already serving. (27:26-27).

C. Motion to suppress and evidence at the suppression hearing.

Before entering his plea, Dixon filed a motion to suppress the evidence obtained during the stop, alleging that police stopped and frisked him without reasonable suspicion in violation of his Fourth Amendment rights. (8).

On February 6, 2015, the circuit court conducted a suppression hearing. (25; App. 101-135). The State called one witness: Officer Alvin Hannah. Hannah testified that during the morning of August 17, 2014, he and his partner, Officer Lafayette Emmons, were on patrol performing a special overtime assignment that involved investigating prostitution complaints. (25:3, 16; App. 103, 116). The two were in an unmarked squad car that Hannah was driving. (25:4; App. 104). Hannah was in plain clothes, and Emmons was in uniform. (25:4; App. 104).

Hannah testified that before daylight on August 17th, between 5:30 a.m. and 5:50 a.m., he drove past 2900 West Lisbon Avenue and observed Dixon standing there by a woman. (25:4-5, 10; App. 104-05, 110). According to Hannah, there had been several complaints from citizens and aldermen of prostitution in this general area, as well as the specific area of North 29th Street and West Lisbon Avenue. (25:8; App. 108). Hannah described the general area as spanning from North 27th Street to North 35th Street, between West Lisbon Avenue and West North Avenue. According to Hannah, this is an area of four or five city blocks running from north to south, and eight blocks from east to west. (25:17; App. 117).

Hannah also explained, however, that there had actually been no prostitution complaints that day. (25:17-18; App. 117-18). Rather, the complaints he described were

received at some point during the previous thirty days. (25:17-18; App. 117-18). He elaborated as follows:

Actually we get complaints in that area – for that area probably for the whole year, but the complaints started getting worse because citizens start seeing johns and prostitutes engaging in sex on the street.

(25:18; App. 118). Hannah also stated that during the previous thirty days, he and his partners had made several arrests in the area of North 29th Street and West Lisbon Avenue for loitering and prostitution. (25:8; App. 108).

Hannah further testified that after he drove past 2900 West Lisbon Avenue, he circled around and parked on the 1700 block of North 29th Street, about half a block away from where Dixon and the woman were standing. (25:6; App. Hannah stated that he then observed Dixon from his squad car using a pair of binoculars for approximately five minutes. (25:6-8; App. 106-08). According to Hannah, Dixon was "walking, engaged in conversation with a black female." (25:6). Hannah said that Dixon and the female were not arguing, but were smiling and "chitchatting." (25:25; App. 125). He also stated that he had never seen Dixon or the woman before. (25:25; App. 125). He described the woman as "a thicker black female." (25:7; App. 107). Regarding Dixon, Hannah said he was wearing "gray pants and like a gray shirt and smaller, trimmed Afro. And I think he had a clean – a goatee." (25:11; App. 111).

Hannah indicated that the two did not appear to be going anywhere. Instead, they were walking back and forth on the northwest corner of West Lisbon Avenue and North 29th Street near a liquor store called Davidson Liquor. (25:7; App. 107). In front of the store were two signs that said "no loitering or prowling"; however, the store was closed at the

time. (25:10; App. 110). Hannah stated that during the five minutes he observed Dixon and the woman, they walked back and forth three or four times. (25:7-8; App. 107-08).

Hannah stated that as he was watching Dixon and the woman, "a couple things ran through [his] head":

I thought either that one of them was trying to buy drugs or that Mr. Dixon was trying to pick up the black female, or that he was trying to pimp the black female.

(25:9; App. 109). Hannah said he based this belief on the fact that Dixon "was well dressed" and "clean cut," as well as the prostitution complaints the police had received during the previous thirty days. (25:9; App. 109).

After observing Dixon for approximately five minutes, Hannah decided to conduct an investigatory stop.

I informed my partner that we were going to conduct an F.I. stop regarding [sic]. I had my headlights up, so I pulled up to the corner, looked to make sure no traffic was coming. Then I pulled straight up to the northeast – excuse me – the northwest corner with my squad car. Then I activated my lights.

(25:10; App. 110). Hannah also stated that when he pulled up his squad car, he drove the car onto the sidewalk, stopped about two feet from Dixon, and activated the car's red and blue emergency lights. (25:15, 26, 28; App. 115, 126, 128). He then immediately exited the vehicle. (25:26, 28; App. 126, 128).

Upon exiting his squad car, Hannah stated that he observed Dixon reach into his pants pocket:

When I pulled up, I observed Mr. Dixon trying to reach into the back which is the right pants pocket, and I

ordered him several times not to reach into his back pocket.

Then he tried to reach again, but I ordered him again, and Mr. Dixon – I ordered him to put his hands up, and that's what he did.

(25:11; App. 111). Hannah later clarified that Dixon did not reach into his pocket until after Hannah activated his emergency lights and exited the vehicle. (25:26-28; App. 126-28).

Hannah stated that after Dixon put his hands up, he told Dixon to turn around, so that he could pat him down for weapons. (25:12, 27; App. 112, 127). When Dixon turned around, Hannah claimed he saw what he thought was a handgun in Dixon's back pants pocket. (25:12; App. 112).

Hannah also alleged that after seeing the gun, he asked Dixon if he was a felon, and Dixon stated that he was. According to Hannah, he then drew his gun, ordered Dixon to the ground, and placed him under arrest. (25:12-13; App. 112-13).

At an oral ruling on March 19, 2015, the circuit court denied Dixon's motion to suppress, concluding that there was reasonable suspicion for the stop. (26:11-17; App. 146-52). The court first made factual findings consistent with Hannah's testimony, finding him to be a credible witness. (26:4-7, 16; App. 139-42, 151). Based on those facts, the court concluded that Hannah had seized Dixon for purposes of the Fourth Amendment when he ordered him "to raise his arms and turn around." (26:11; App. 146). In doing so, the court rejected the notion that the stop had occurred before that, when Hannah activated his squad car's emergency lights, stating that "[t]urning on the car light itself is not a seizure." (26:13; App. 148).

The court further concluded that at the time Hannah ordered Dixon to put his hands up, there was reasonable suspicion to conduct an investigatory stop (26:11-13; App. 146-48). In this regard, the court noted the following "suspicious" factors:

- 1. There had been reports about prostitution, including sexual activity, taking place at the location during the past thirty days.
- 2. Dixon was talking to a woman outside a liquor store at approximately 5:55 a.m.
- 3. The store had "no loitering" signs.¹
- 4. Hannah had seen Dixon reach into to his back pocket.

(26:11-13; App. 146-48).

The court stated that given these factors, it was reasonable for Hannah to approach Dixon and conduct a stop. (26:12-13; App. 147-48). The court also stated that there was a "reasonable basis" to perform a pat down, as Hannah had seen Dixon reach into his pocket. However, the court noted that there was no actual "frisk or pat down which produced a weapon" in this case. (26:15-16; App. 150-51). Rather, the observation of the gun, coupled with Dixon's admission that he was a felon, provided probable cause for arrest. (26:13; App. 148).

¹ The court stated that it was "unnecessary for [it] to decide if this case involves a violation of the City of Milwaukee's loitering or prowling ordinance," noting that Hannah's testimony "didn't really focus on that." Instead, Hannah's testimony focused on "the State's prostitution's law." (26:14).

Dixon subsequently filed a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief, undersigned counsel was appointed, and this appeal follows.² (19; 20).

ARGUMENT

I. The Police Lacked Reasonable Suspicion To Stop And Detain Dixon Based On the Fact He Was Talking To a Woman For Five Minutes In an Area Where There Had Been Prostitution Complaints In the Last Thirty Days.

In this case, Officer Hannah was on a mission to find prostitution. His observations of Dixon, however, failed to provide reasonable suspicion that Dixon was actually soliciting prostitution or engaging in any other criminal activity. Dixon was simply talking to his girlfriend for five minutes on a public sidewalk. The fact that this was a "high-crime" or "high-prostitution" area did not make Hannah's actions reasonable. People who live in high-crime neighborhoods are entitled to the same level of constitutional protection as anyone else. Dixon therefore respectfully requests that this court reverse the circuit court's decision denying his motion to suppress.

A. Standard of review and general legal principles.

The right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures is guaranteed by the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution, and Article I, § 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution. This court consistently follows the United States Supreme Court's interpretation of the Fourth

² A defendant may appeal an order denying a suppression motion despite a guilty plea. Wis. Stat. § 971.31(10).

Amendment in construing Article I, § 11. *State v. Betterley*, 191 Wis. 2d 407, 417, 529 N.W.2d 216 (1995).

The Fourth Amendment governs all police intrusions, including investigative stops. *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1 (1968). Where an unlawful stop occurs, the remedy is to suppress the evidence it produced. *State v. Washington*, 2005 WI App 123, ¶ 10, 284 Wis. 2d 456, 700 N.W.2d 305 (2005); *Wong Sun v. United States*, 371 U.S. 471, 487-88 (1963).

Whether a person has been seized is question of constitutional fact. *State v. Williams*, 2002 WI 94, ¶ 17, 255 Wis. 2d 1, 646 N.W.2d 834. As such, this court accepts the circuit court's findings of evidentiary or historical fact unless they are clearly erroneous, but it determines independently whether or when a seizure occurred. *See id.* Similarly, in reviewing a motion to suppress, this court applies a two-step standard. *State v. Martin*, 2012 WI 96, ¶ 28, 343 Wis. 2d 278, 816 N.W.2d 270. First, it upholds the circuit court's findings of fact, unless clearly erroneous. Second, it independently reviews whether the facts meet the constitutional standard. *Id.*

In this case, Dixon does not challenge the circuit court's factual findings. Therefore, the sole issue is whether the facts supplied reasonable suspicion for the stop.

B. The police lacked reasonable suspicion to stop Dixon; therefore, the circuit court erred in denying his motion to suppress.

An investigatory stop must be based on more than an "inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or 'hunch.'" *Terry*, 392 U.S. at 27. To conduct a lawful stop, an officer must have a reasonable suspicion, based on specific and articulable

facts, to believe that the person is engaged in criminal activity. *Ornelas v. United States*, 517 U.S. 690, 696 (1996).

Determining whether an officer had reasonable suspicion to stop a defendant involves an objective analysis of the totality of the circumstances, considering the facts in the record and rational inferences from those facts. *Ohio v. Robinette*, 519 U.S. 33, 34 (1996). However, "to accommodate public and private interests some quantum of *individualized* suspicion is usually a prerequisite to a constitutional search or seizure." *United States v. Martinez-Fuente*, 428 U.S. 543, 560 (1976) (emphasis added); *see also Michigan v. Summers*, 452 U.S. 692, 699, n.9 (1981).

In the instant case, the circuit court determined that Dixon was seized for purposes of the Fourth Amendment when Hannah ordered him to raise his arms and turn around. (26:11; App. 146). That conclusion was erroneous.³ A stop or seizure occurs when a police officer restrains a person's liberty by means of physical force or a show of authority, such that a reasonable person under the circumstances would not feel free to leave. *State v. Harris*, 206 Wis. 2d 243, 252-53, 557 N.W.2d 245 (1996). Deciding when a stop occurs is important because the moment of a stop limits what facts a court may consider in determining the existence of reasonable suspicion for that stop. *Young*, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 39.

³ The circuit court cited *State v. Young*, 2006 WI 98, 294 Wis. 2d 1, 717 N.W.2d 729, as support for its conclusion that activating the car's emergency lights was not a seizure. (26:11-13; App. 146-48). *Young* does not support that conclusion. In *Young*, the officer activated his flashing hazard lights and illuminated Young's car with his spotlight, but he never activated the car's red and blue emergency lights. *Id.* ¶¶ 10, 68. Also, because Young subsequently fled the scene, he was not considered seized until police physically apprehended him. *Id.* ¶ 52 (applying *California v. Hodari D.*, 499 U.S. 621, 626 (1991)).

Here, the stop took place before Hannah exited his vehicle and ordered Dixon to raise his hands and turn around. It occurred the moment Hannah activated his squad car's red and blue emergency lights. No reasonable person would feel free to leave after a police officer drove his squad car up on the sidewalk, stopped two feet from the person, and then activated the car's red and blue emergency lights. Dixon was certainly not free to "terminate the encounter" and leave the scene at that point. *See United States v. Drayton*, 536 U.S. 194, 202 (2002). He was seized for purposes of the Fourth Amendment, and for purposes of common sense.

Any ruling to the contrary would also be at odds with public safety, as it would send a message that people should feel free to leave or otherwise ignore a similar show of police authority. Fourth Amendment jurisprudence has created incentives for people to obey police orders, not the other way around. *See Hodari D.*, 499 U.S. at 626; *Young*, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 50.

Because the circuit court erred in determining when the stop actually occurred, it also erred in considering the fact that Dixon reached into pocket multiple times in deciding whether there was reasonable suspicion. Dixon did not reach into his pocket, according to Hannah, until after Hannah activated his emergency lights and exited the vehicle. (25:26-28; App. 126-28). This fact thus could not have provided reasonable suspicion for Hannah to conduct the stop.

As such, the relevant facts at the time of the stop were as follows: (1) it was a "high-prostitution" area; (2) Dixon was talking to a female for five minutes at 5:55 a.m.; and (3) there were "no loitering" signs outside the nearby liquor store. None of these facts alone or taken together amount to

reasonable suspicion that Dixon was engaging in any unlawful activity.

First, the fact that this was a "high-prostitution" or "high-crime" area should add nothing to the reasonable suspicion analysis. *See Washington*, 284 Wis. 2d 456 (there was insufficient basis for a stop where the defendant was standing in front of a vacant house in a high-crime area, the police knew he did not live there, he had been previously arrested for narcotics, and a citizen had called to complain about drug dealing and loitering at the house). As this court recently noted in *State v. Gordon*, 2014 WI App 44, 353 Wis. 2d 468, 846 N.W.2d 483:

sadly, many, many folks, innocent of any crime, are by circumstances forced to live in areas that are not safe – either for themselves or their loved ones. Thus, the routine mantra of "high crime area" has the tendency to condemn a whole population to police intrusion that, with the same additional facts, would not happen in other parts of our community. "An individual's presence in an area of expected criminal activity, standing along, is not enough to support a reasonable, particularized suspicion that the person is committing a crime."

Id. ¶ 15 (citing Illinois v. Wardlow, 528 U.S. 119, 124 (2000)); see also State v. Morgan, 197 Wis. 2d 200, 212-13, 539 N.W.2d 887 (1995) ("We recognize . . . that many persons 'are forced to live in areas that have 'high crime' rates or they come to these areas to shop, work, play, transact business, or visit relatives or friends. The spectrum of legitimate human behavior occurs every day in so-called high crimes areas.' Furthermore, Professor LaFave warns that 'simply being about in a high-crime area should not by itself ever be viewed as a sufficient basis to make an investigative stop.'").

In addition, this court "must be particularly careful to ensure that a 'high crime' area factor is not used with respect to entire neighborhoods or communities in which members of minority groups regularly go about their daily business." Gordon, 353 Wis. 2d 468, ¶ 15 (citing Sims v. Stanton, 706 F.3d 954, 963 (9th Cir. 2013). This court can take judicial notice that the area described by Hannah – from North 27th Street to North 35th Street, between North Avenue and Lisbon - is both a minority and low-income neighborhood.⁴ Wis. Stat. § 902.01(2)(a). Police should not be permitted to simply stereotype people in such a neighborhood as criminals, just because the neighborhood is considered a "high-crime" area. The Fourth Amendment's protections apply equally to members of every race and class. It is thus this court's duty to safeguard constitutional rights in areas that are considered high-crime, low-income, or minority neighborhoods with the same force as in all other parts of the community. conclude that Dixon's mere presence in a "high-crime" area was a sufficient justification for the stop in this case would be to abandon that duty.

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