# **RECEIVED**

## STATE OF WISCONSIN

04-14-2016

# COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2015AP2307-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

SAMUEL K. DIXON,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE THOMAS J. MCADAMS, PRESIDING

### **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

ANNE C. MURPHY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1031600

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-9224 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) murphyac@doj.state.wi.us

#### **ARGUMENT**

# THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY DENIED DIXON'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS.

#### A. Relevant law and standard of review.

The Amendment Fourth of the United **States** Constitution and Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution protect people from unreasonable searches and seizures, but only apply if a police-citizen contact constitutes a seizure. See Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968); State v. Williams, 2002 WI 94, ¶ 20, 255 Wis. 2d 1, 646 N.W.2d 834. An individual seeking to suppress evidence on the ground that it was obtained in violation of the Fourth Amendment must show (1) that the conduct of law enforcement officers amounted to a seizure of his person and (2) that that seizure was unreasonable. *State v. Young*, 2006 WI 98, ¶¶ 18-21, 294 Wis. 2d 1, 717 N.W.2d 729. A seizure "does not occur simply because a police officer approaches an individual and asks a few questions" but rather, only when an officer, "by means of physical force or show of authority, has in some way restrained the liberty of a citizen." Florida v. Bostick, 501 U.S. 429, 434 (1991). Stated otherwise, a person is seized for Fourth Amendment purposes only if, in view of the totality of the circumstances surrounding the encounter, a reasonable person would have felt that he was not free to terminate the encounter and go about his business. Id.; United States v. Mendenhall, 446 U.S. 544, 554 (1980); *Young*, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 18. The "reasonable person" inquiry presupposes an innocent person. *Bostick*, 501 U.S. at 438.

When examining the totality of the circumstances to determine whether a seizure occurred, some considerations that may be relevant include whether more than one officer was present, whether the officer(s) displayed their weapons, whether an officer made physical contact with the person, and

whether an officer's language or tone suggested that compliance with the officer's request might have been required. See Mendenhall, 446 U.S. at 554. The use of spotlights and emergency lights on a squad car have been recognized as potential "indicia of police authority"; however, pulling up behind a parked car and illuminating it with a spotlight does not alone constitute a seizure. See Young, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶¶ 65, 68-69 (citing Mendenhall, 446 U.S. at 554). The test for determining whether a seizure has taken place "is necessarily imprecise, because it is designed to assess the coercive effect of police conduct, taken as a whole, rather than to focus on particular details of that conduct in isolation." Michigan v. Chesternut, 486 U.S. 567, 573 (1988). The test is an objective one that focuses on whether a reasonable person, under all the circumstances, would have felt free to leave, not whether the defendant himself or herself felt free to go. *Id.* at 573-74.

When the police action involved is a show of authority, rather than use of physical force, the Fourth Amendment is not implicated until police demonstrate a show of authority *and* the individual yields to that show of authority. *See*, *e.g.*, *State v*. *Kelsey C.R.*, 2001 WI 54, ¶¶ 32-33, 243 Wis. 2d 422, 626 N.W.2d 777 (citing *California v. Hodari D.*, 499 U.S. 621 (1991)). *See also Young*, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 26. In other words, an *uncomplied-with* show of police authority cannot be a seizure. *Kelsey*, 243 Wis. 2d 422, ¶ 33; *Young*, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 26.

A seizure may be justified where police officers "approach a person for purposes of investigating possibly criminal behavior even though there is no probable cause to make an arrest." *Terry*, 392 U.S. at 22. In such an investigatory or "*Terry*" stop, an officer may "stop and briefly detain a person for investigative purposes if the officer has a reasonable suspicion supported by articulable facts that criminal activity 'may be afoot.'" *United States v. Sokolow*, 490 U.S. 1, 7 (1989) (quoting *Terry*, 392 U.S. at 30). The reasonable suspicion test is an objective one: whether the facts available to the officer at the

time of the seizure would "warrant a man of reasonable caution in the belief' that the action taken was appropriate." *State v. Miller*, 2012 WI 61, ¶ 29, 341 Wis. 2d 307, 815 N.W.2d 349 (quoting *Terry*, 392 U.S. at 21-22). Thus, an investigatory stop will be justified where the officer can "point to specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant" the intrusion of the stop. *See Miller*, 341 Wis. 2d 307,  $\P$  29.

Like seizures in general, whether an investigatory stop was supported by reasonable suspicion is determined by examining the totality of the circumstances facing law enforcement leading up to and at the time of the stop. *State v. Williams*, 2001 WI 21,  $\P$  23, 241 Wis. 2d 631,623 N.W.2d 106. Moreover, reasonable suspicion does not require that an officer "dispel all innocent inferences before conducting an investigatory stop." *Young*, 294 Wis. 2d 1,  $\P$  59.

When this Court reviews a circuit court's denial of a motion to suppress on Fourth Amendment grounds, the standard of review is mixed. The circuit court's findings of fact should be upheld unless those findings demonstrate an erroneous exercise of discretion. *See Williams*, 255 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 17. Whether the facts found demonstrate that a seizure occurred or that reasonable suspicion existed for such seizure are questions of law, subject to de novo review. *See id*.

B. Under the *Hodari D./Young* submission-toauthority test, Dixon was not seized until he raised his arms and turned around in compliance with Officer Hannah's orders.

Dixon's main argument on appeal is that Officer Hannah seized him as soon as Officer Hannah pulled the squad car up to the liquor store corner and activated the emergency lights. Dixon alleges that at that point, Officer Hannah lacked reasonable suspicion because he had not yet seen Dixon reach

into his back pocket from which the gun was ultimately recovered. (Dixon's br. 10-11.)

However, the circuit court correctly found the seizure of Dixon did not occur until Officer Hannah directed Dixon "to raise his arms and turn around," *after* Officer Hannah saw Dixon reach repeatedly into his pocket and ordered him several times to stop. (26:11, A-Ap. 146.) Specifically, because Dixon at first refused to comply with Officer Hannah's order to stop reaching into his back pocket, Dixon was not seized until Dixon physically complied with Officer Hannah's order to raise his arms and turn around, at which time Officer Hannah saw the gun in his pocket and simultaneously asked Dixon if he was a felon. (25:12, A-Ap. 112.)

As the Wisconsin Supreme Court explained in *Young*, *Mendenhall's* test of whether a reasonable person would feel free to leave does not address the situation where, as here, a person refuses to yield to a show of authority. *Young*, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 39 (explaining that the *Hodari D*. court found the *Mendenhall* free-to-leave test insufficient in the context of a fleeing suspect). Accordingly, the *Mendenhall* test only applies when the subject of police attention is either subdued by force, or actually submits to a show of authority. *Id*. Where a person fails to yield to police authority, *Hodari D*. will govern when the seizure occurs. *Young*, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶¶ 39-40.

In this case, the *Mendenhall* free-to-leave test is inapplicable because Dixon initially refused to comply with Officer Hannah's order to stop reaching his hand into his back pocket. (25:11-12, A-Ap. 111-12.) *See Young*, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶¶ 39-40. As the *Young* court explained, when a suspect does not submit to a show of authority, *Hodari D.* supplies the proper analysis to evaluate whether the suspect was seized. *Id.* ¶ 52.

Accordingly, applying the *Hodari D.* analysis, Dixon was not seized until he complied with Officer Hannah's orders, because Dixon failed to submit to any show of police authority when he refused to comply with Officer Hannah's order several times to not put his hands in his back pocket. *See Hodari D.*, 499 U.S. at 623-24, 629. Finally, Dixon complied with Officer Hannah's order to "get his hands up" and "turn around," at which point Officer Hannah saw the handgun in his rear pants pocket and asked him if he was a felon. (25:11-12, A-Ap. 111-12.) Thus, Dixon was not seized until he complied with Officer's Hannah's order, when he was "directed to raise his arms and turn around," and the seizure was supported by reasonable suspicion. (26:11-12, A-Ap. 146-47.)

The cases are clear that this Court must review the totality of the circumstances in determining whether a Fourth Amendment event occurred. *See, e.g., Young,* 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶¶ 3, 65 (whether seizure occurs is viewed in light of all of the circumstances surrounding the incident). Here, under the totality of the circumstances, Officer Hannah had reasonable suspicion because Dixon failed to submit to any show of police authority before he turned around in compliance with Officer Hannah's order and Officer Hannah saw the gun in plain view and therefore, the circuit court properly denied the motion to suppress and admitted the gun into evidence.

C. Even if Officer Hannah seized Dixon when Officer Hannah pulled up in the unmarked squad car and activated the lights, Officer Hannah had reasonable, articulable suspicion of criminal activity before the seizure.

The circuit court found that the moment of seizure did not occur until Officer Hannah ordered Dixon to turn around and raise his hands. Before that time, Dixon had not complied with Officer Hannah's orders to stop reaching into his back pockets (see part B, above). Further, given that the squad car was unmarked and the lights were used to identify it as a police vehicle, Officer Hannah's shining the emergency lights on Dixon and the female was not a seizure (26:17, A-Ap. 152.)

However, even if the seizure of Dixon occurred at the very moment Officer Hannah activated the emergency lights, Officer Hannah had reasonable suspicion of criminal activity before then. Although Dixon argues that neither the multiple complaints and arrests for prostitution during the previous thirty days in the exact area that Dixon was arrested, nor Dixon's behavior of pacing back and forth with a female at 5:50 a.m. in front of a closed liquor store with a posted "no loitering" sign, "amount[ed] to reasonable suspicion that Dixon was engaging in any unlawful activity" (Dixon's br. 11-12), the State submits that Officer Hannah had more than sufficient reasonable suspicion to stop Dixon under the totality of the circumstances.

A police officer can stop and briefly detain a person for investigative purposes if the officer has a reasonable suspicion supported by specific and articulable facts that criminal activity may be afoot, even if the officer lacks probable cause. State v. *Vorburger*, 2002 WI 105, ¶ 74, 255 Wis. 2d 537, 648 N.W.2d 829. The facts supporting whether an officer has reasonable suspicion are judged *objectively*: would the facts available to the officer warrant a person of reasonable caution in the belief that the action taken was appropriate? See Terry, 392 U.S. at 21-22. In other words: "What would a reasonable police officer reasonably suspect in light of his or her training and experience?" State v. Waldner, 206 Wis. 2d 51, 56, 556 N.W.2d 681 (1996). The circumstances articulated by the investigating officer are not weighed in terms of scholarly analysis, but as understood by those versed in law enforcement. *United States v.* Cortez, 449 U.S. 411, 418 (1981). See also Young, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 53 (to determine whether officer has reasonable suspicion to initiate a *Terry* stop, courts must examine facts leading up to stop to determine whether those historical facts, viewed from

standpoint of objectively reasonable police officer, amount to reasonable suspicion).

Thus, reasonable suspicion only requires that a police officer possess specific and articulable facts that warrant a reasonable belief that criminal activity is afoot. *Young*, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 21. Moreover, a police officer may initiate an investigatory stop for a *non-criminal* violation, so long as the officer reasonably suspects that the person is violating a non-criminal law. *See State v. Iverson*, 2015 WI 101, ¶ 53, 365 Wis. 2d 302, 871 N.W.2d 661 (reasonable suspicion of violation of non-criminal civil forfeiture offense of littering justified traffic stop). Indeed, the officer's suspicions do not have to relate to particular criminal activity. *State v. Anderson*, 155 Wis. 2d 77, 84-86, 454 N.W.2d 763 (1990) (suspicious conduct by its very nature is ambiguous, and the principle function of an investigative stop is to quickly resolve that ambiguity).

Therefore, if the officers can draw any reasonable inference of wrongful conduct, the officers have the right to temporarily detain the individual for the purpose of inquiry. Young, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 21. See also State v. Nieves, 2007 WI App 189, ¶ 14, 304 Wis. 2d 182, 738 N.W.2d 125 (police need not rule out innocent explanations for behavior when there are reasonable inferences that favor probable cause or reasonable suspicion for the stop); State v. Blanco, 2000 WI App 119,  $\P$  29, 237 Wis. 2d 395, 614 N.W.2d 512 (same). Nor is the officer constitutionally required to be certain that a crime has occurred when he makes a stop. See, e.g., State v. Secrist, 224 Wis. 2d 201, 212, 589 N.W.2d 387 (1999) (for probable cause, quantum of evidence need not reach level of proof beyond a reasonable doubt or even that guilt is more likely than not). The law must be sufficiently flexible to allow law enforcement officers, under certain circumstances, the opportunity to temporarily freeze the situation, particularly where failure to act will result in the disappearance of a potential suspect. State v. Guzy, 139 Wis. 2d 663, 676, 407 N.W.2d 548 (1987).

In its decision denying Dixon's motion to suppress, the circuit court recited a number of factual findings that support the conclusion that, at the point that Officer Hannah pulled the unmarked squad car up to the corner and turned on the emergency lights, Officer Hannah effectuated an investigatory stop that was supported by reasonable suspicion.

First, there[] had been reports about prostitution including sexual activity taking place on the street itself.

Second, Mr. Dixon was talking to a woman.

And in different circumstances, I don't think there would be anything suspicious about that.

But Mr. Dixon was outside a liquor store at 5:55 a.m. where there had been recent reports of prostitution.

Third, the store had no loitering signs.

So, I think given that information that a veteran officer had, it was reasonable to approach Mr. Dixon.

(26:11-12, A-Ap. 146-47.)

The court determined that "turning on the car light itself was not a seizure" because it was not until "the point that hands are ordered to be raised, a reasonable person would begin to feel not free to leave." (26:13, A-Ap. 148.) The circuit court further emphasized that "reports about prostitution in the area and the defendant's presence and pacing outside a liquor store at 5:50 a.m." provided reasonable suspicion, and that it was not necessary to determine whether there was a violation of the City of Milwaukee's loitering or prowling ordinance but instead, that the relevant criminal activity that the police were investigating was a violation of anti-prostitution laws. (26:14-15, A-Ap. 149-50.)

The circuit court ultimately determined that Officer Hannah was credible in his testimony about the "recent reports

of prostitution activity in the vicinity" and that it was reasonable for Officer Hannah to approach Dixon when he "saw Mr. Dixon and a woman standing and pacing back and forth outside of a closed liquor store at 5:50 a.m. which had no loitering signs posted on the exterior of the store." (26:16-17, A-Ap. 151-52.) This finding is supported by Officer Hannah's testimony that he and his partner were on a special, overtime assignment as a result of the complaints and arrests in that exact area that had occurred at the exact time – the early morning hours – that they saw Dixon pacing back and forth in front of the closed liquor store with a female. (25:3, A-Ap. 103.)

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